
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 Plaintiff, 

v. 

BP PRODUCTS NORTH AMERICA, INC. 

 Defendant. 

 Civ. No. ____________________ 

 

 
COMPLAINT 

The United States of America, by the authority of the Attorney General of the United 

States and through the undersigned attorneys, and at the request of the Administrator of the 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), files this Complaint and alleges as 

follows. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. This is a civil action brought pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(C) of the Clean Water 

Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(C), for the assessment of civil penalties and injunctive 

relief against BP Products North America, Inc. (“Defendant”). The United States seeks civil 

penalties against the Defendant for failing to prepare and implement an adequate Facility 

Response Plan (“FRP”) for its terminal in Curtis Bay, Maryland in violation of 40 C.F.R. 

§ 112.20, and for failing to develop and implement an adequate program of oil spill response 

drills/exercises in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 122.21. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 33 

U.S.C. § 1321(n) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345 and 1355.  
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3. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(E) and 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1391(b), 1391(c) and 1395(a), because the Defendant does business, and because the 

claims arose and the violations occurred, within this district. 

4. Authority to bring this action is vested in the United States Department of Justice 

under 33 U.S.C. § 1366 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519. 

THE DEFENDANT 

5. The Defendant is a corporation that is organized under the laws of the state of 

Maryland with its principal place of business at 7 Saint Paul Street, Suite 1660, Baltimore, 

Maryland 21202. 

6. The Defendant is a “person” within the meaning of Section 311(a)(7) of the Clean 

Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(7), and 40 C.F.R. § 112.2. 

7. The Defendant owns and operates an oil storage and distribution facility located at 

801 Ordnance Road, Curtis Bay, Maryland, 21226, known as the “Curtis Bay Terminal.” 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

A. Oil Spill Response Program 

8. In 1972, Congress enacted the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251-1387. In 

Section 311(j)(1)(C) of the Clean Water Act, Congress required the President to promulgate 

regulations which would, among other things, establish procedures, methods, and other 

requirements for preventing discharges of oil from onshore facilities into navigable waters and 

for containing such discharges. 

9. The authority in Section 311(j)(1)(C) of the Clean Water Act was delegated to the 

Administrator of EPA and, in 1973, the Administrator promulgated the spill prevention 

regulations. 40 C.F.R. §§ 112.1-112.7. 
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10. In 1990, Congress amended Section 311 of the Clean Water Act by enacting the 

Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA”). Included in this amendment was Section 311(j)(5)(A), 33 

U.S.C. § 1321(j)(5)(A), which required the President to promulgate regulations which would 

mitigate potential harm caused by vessels, and onshore and offshore oil facilities that, because of 

their location, could reasonably be expected to cause substantial harm to the environment by 

discharging oil into or on the navigable waters of the United States or adjoining shorelines 

(“substantial harm facilities”). Specifically, Congress directed the President to promulgate 

regulations requiring the owners or operators of substantial harm facilities to submit to the 

President plans for responding to worst case oil discharges and a substantial threat of such 

discharges. 

11. In Section 2(d)(1) of Executive Order 12777 (October 18, 1991), the President 

delegated to the Administrator of EPA the authority to promulgate such regulations under 

Section 311(j) of the Clean Water Act for the non-transportation-related onshore facilities. 

12. Pursuant to Section 311(c)(1)(C) and (j)(5)(A) of the Clean Water Act and the 

President’s delegation of authority, in 1994 the Administrator of EPA amended 40 C.F.R. Part 

112 by promulgating oil spill response regulations. These spill response regulations require non-

transportation-related substantial-harm facilities to, inter alia, develop and implement a facility 

response plan (“FRP”), an oil spill response training program, and a program of oil spill response 

drills/exercises. These regulations are codified at 40 C.F.R. §§ 112.20-21, and became effective 

on August 30, 1994. 

13. These spill response regulations require the owner or operator of such an onshore 

oil storage and distribution facility to first determine, under criteria established by EPA in 40 

C.F.R. § 112.20(f)(1), whether, because of the facility’s storage capacity and location, the facility 
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could reasonably be expected to cause substantial harm to the environment by discharging oil 

into or on navigable waters or adjoining shorelines. 40 C.F.R. § 112.20. 

14. A facility is classified as a substantial harm facility if (1) the facility transfers oil 

over water to or from vessels and has a total oil storage capacity greater than or equal to 42,000 

gallons, or (2) the facility’s total oil storage capacity is greater than or equal to 1,000,000 

gallons, and one of the following is true: (a) it does not have sufficient secondary containment to 

contain the capacity of the largest above-ground oil storage tank plus freeboard for precipitation 

within each storage area; (b) the facility is located at a distance (as calculated from the 

appropriate formula in 40 C.F.R. Part 112, Appendix C) such that a discharge from the facility 

could cause injury to fish and wildlife and sensitive environments; (c) the facility is located at a 

distance (as calculated from the appropriate formula in 40 C.F.R. Part 112, Appendix C) such 

that a discharge from the facility would shut down a public drinking water intake; or (d) the 

facility has had a reportable oil spill of at least 10,000 gallons within the last 5 years. 40 C.F.R. 

§ 112.20(f)(1). 

15. If a facility is determined to be a substantial-harm facility under these criteria, the 

spill response regulations require the owner or operator of the facility to prepare and submit to 

the EPA a Facility Response Plan, which details the facility’s emergency plans for responding to 

an oil spill. 40 C.F.R. § 112.20(a). 

16. In order to meet the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 112.20, a facility must, in its 

Facility Response Plan, address response planning and identify, inter alia, response resources 

that meet the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 112, Appendix E. 40 C.F.R. § 112.20(h)(3)(i). 

17. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 112, Appendix E, § 3.0, a Facility Response Plan must, 

inter alia, identify sufficient response resources to respond to a discharge to navigable waters of 
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less than or equal to 2,100 gallons, including but not limited to: 1,000 feet of containment boom 

and a means of deploying it within one hour of the discovery of a discharge. See id. § 3.3.1. 

18. In addition, the spill response regulations require the owner or operator of a 

substantial-harm facility to develop and implement a program of facility response drills/exercises 

for oil spill response. 40 C.F.R. § 112.21(a). 

19. A program of oil spill drills/exercise must follow either the National Preparedness 

for Response Exercise Program Guidelines (“PREP Guidelines,” attached hereto as Appendix A) 

or an alternative program approved by the Regional Administrator of the applicable EPA Region. 

40 C.F.R. § 112.21(c). The PREP Guidelines are binding requirements when referenced in a 

facility’s FRP. (App. A. at p. 4-1.) 

20. The PREP Guidelines authorize facility owners or operators to hire a third-party 

Oil Spill Response Contractor (“OSRO”) to assist with spill response. 

B. Definitions 

21. The definition of “oil,” found at 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(1) and 40 C.F.R. § 112.2, 

means oil of any kind, including petroleum, fuel oil, sludge and oil refuse. 

22. The definition of “discharge,” found at 40 C.F.R. § 112.2, includes any spilling, 

leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying or dumping. 

23. The definition of discharge of oil “in harmful quantities,” found at 40 C.F.R. § 

110.3, includes discharges of oil that: (a) violate applicable water standards; or (b) cause a film 

or sheen upon or discoloration of the surface of the water or adjoining shorelines or cause a 

sludge or emulsion to be deposited beneath the surface of the water or upon adjoining shorelines. 
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24. The definition of “worst case discharge,” found at 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(24) and 40 

C.F.R. § 112.2, means, in the case of an onshore facility, the largest foreseeable discharge that 

could occur in adverse weather conditions. 

25. The definition of “onshore facility,” found at 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(10) and 40 

C.F.R. § 112.2, means, any facility in, on, or under land within the United States, other than 

submerged land, which is not a transportation-related facility. 

26. The definition of “non-transportation-related facility,” found in 40 C.F.R. Part 

112, Appendix A and incorporated by reference at 40 C.F.R. § 112.2, includes oil drilling, 

producing, refining and storage facilities. 

27. The definition of “owner or operator,” found at 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(6) and 40 

C.F.R. § 112.2, means, in the case of an onshore facility, any person owning or operating such an 

onshore facility. 

28. The definition of “navigable waters,” found at 40 C.F.R. § 110.1 and 40 C.F.R. 

§ 112.2 and .20, includes “the waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.”  

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

29. The Defendant is engaged in drilling, producing, gathering, storing, processing, 

refining, transferring, distributing or consuming oil or oil products at the Curtis Bay Terminal. 

30. Upon information and belief, the Curtis Bay Terminal has the capacity to store 

approximately 21,840,000 gallons of oil in aboveground storage tanks. 

31. The Defendant began operating the Curtis Bay Terminal on or about 1945. 

32. The Curtis Bay Terminal is located within one quarter mile of Curtis Creek, a 

perennial tributary of Curtis Bay, the Patapsco River and the Chesapeake Bay. 
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33. Curtis Creek is a “water of the United States” with the meaning of the Clean 

Water Act. 

A. Failed Exercise of August 17, 2005 

34. On or about July 20, 2005, EPA notified the Defendant and other regulated 

facilities in the general vicinity of the Curtis Bay Terminal by letter that EPA planned to conduct 

government-initiated oil pollution response exercises at facilities in the Baltimore area during the 

week of August 14, 2005. 

35. On August 17, 2005, representatives of EPA and the United States Coast Guard 

arrived at the Curtis Bay Terminal to conduct an unannounced oil spill response drill/exercise. 

The exercise, which began at 9:33 a.m., involved the following scenario based on the 

“Small/Average Most Probable Discharge” scenario in the Defendant’s FRP: 

A discharge of 50 barrels (approximately 2000 gallons) of fuel oil released at the 
truck loading rack. It flowed to the surface drains and into the oil water separator. 
A failure of the system resulted in a release to Curtis Creek. 

36. A facility responding to a scenario such as the hypothetical scenario presented to 

Defendant on August 17, 2005 must demonstrate that the responders identified in the facility’s 

FRP have the ability to rapidly and effectively control the discharge.  

37. The Defendant attempted to notify EPA and the Occupational Safety and Health 

Administration of the exercise in accordance with its FRP, but failed to do so. 

38. An oil spill containment boom arrived at the Curtis Bay Terminal at 10:44 a.m., 

more than 1 hour after the start of the exercise.  

39. The Defendant needed a boat to deploy the oil spill containment boom in response 

to the unannounced exercise. 

40. EPA ended the drill at approximately 11:30 a.m. before the boat arrived and 

without the Defendant having successfully deployed the boom. 
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41. Upon information and belief, the boat that the Defendant needed to deploy the 

boom arrived at approximately 1:00 p.m., approximately three and one-half hours after the start 

of the drill. 

42. EPA determined that the Defendant did not successfully complete the 

unannounced exercise. 

B. Failed Exercise of October 3, 2005 

43. Following the unsuccessful exercise on August 17, 2005, EPA extended the 

Defendant a thirty-day time period in which the Defendant was to prepare to participate in 

another unannounced exercise. 

44. On October 3, 2005, representatives of EPA and the United States Coast Guard 

arrived at the Curtis Bay Terminal to conduct another unannounced oil spill response 

drill/exercise.  

45. The unannounced exercise began at 11:30 a.m. on October 3, 2005 and involved 

the same scenario as the exercise conducted on August 17, 2005. 

46. At 12:15 p.m. on the day of the second exercise, 2,000 feet of boom arrived at the 

location of the hypothetical oil spill. 

47. A boat that could be used to deploy the boom arrived at the location of the 

hypothetical oil spill no earlier than 12:52 p.m. on the day of the exercise. 

48. The Defendant was not ready to deploy the boom at least until the boat arrived. 

49. The Defendant began deploying the boom after the boat arrived.  

50. A second boat was dispatched to assist the first boat at 1:15 p.m. 

51. The Defendant finished deploying the boom at 1:30 p.m. 
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52. The deployed boom was twisted in multiple locations and would not have been 

effective at containing an oil spill. 

53. EPA determined that the Defendant did not successfully complete the second 

unannounced exercise.  

COUNT I
 

  

(FAILURE TO PREPARE AND SUBMIT AN ADEQUATE  
FACILITY REPONSE PLAN) 

 
54. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in Paragraphs 1 

through 53. 

55. The Defendant is the “owner or operator” of the Curtis Bay Terminal within the 

meaning of Section 311(a)(6) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(6), and 40 C.F.R. 

§ 112.2. 

56. The Curtis Bay Terminal is a non-transportation-related facility under the 

definition incorporated by reference at 40 C.F.R. § 112.2 and set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 112, 

Appendix A. 

57. The Curtis Bay Terminal is an “onshore facility” within the meaning of Section 

311(a)(10) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(10), and 40 C.F.R. § 112.2. 

58. Curtis Creek, Curtis Bay, the Patapsco River and the Chesapeake Bay are 

“navigable waters,” as defined in Section 502(7) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7), 

and 40 C.F.R. §§ 110.1 and 112.2. 

59. Due to its location, the Curtis Bay Terminal could reasonably be expected to 

discharge oil in harmful quantities, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 110.3, into or upon a navigable 

water of the United States or its adjoining shorelines. 
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60.  Due to its oil storage capacity and location, the Curtis Bay Terminal could 

reasonably be expected to cause substantial harm to the environment, within the meaning of 

Section 311(j)(5)(B)(iii) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(j)(5)(B)(iii), as determined by 

evaluating the criteria in 40 C.F.R. § 112.20(f), by discharging oil into or on navigable waters or 

adjoining shorelines. 

61. Pursuant to Section 311(j)(5) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(j)(5), and 

40 C.F.R. §§ 112.1 and 112.20, the Curtis Bay Terminal is subject to the facility response plan 

submission requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 112.20.  

62. In December 2003, the Defendant submitted to EPA an FRP for the Curtis Bay 

Terminal dated September 2003 (the “2003 FRP”).  

63. From August 17, 2005 until at least October 3, 2005, with the resources identified 

in its FRP, the Defendant was unable to: (1) provide 1,000 feet of oil spill containment boom and 

a means of deploying it within 1 hour of the detection of an oil spill; and (2) subsequently deploy 

the boom successfully. Accordingly, the Defendant failed to identify in its FRP sufficient 

response resources. See 40 C.F.R. Part 112, Appendix E § 3.3.1. 

64. From at least August 17, 2005 until at least October 3, 2005, the Defendant failed 

to have an adequate FRP. 

65. From at least August 17, 2005 until at least October 3, 2005, the Defendant failed 

to adequately implement its FRP. 

66. Pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(C) of the Clean Water Act, the Defendant is liable 

for civil penalties of up to $32,500 per day. 
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COUNT II
 

  

(FAILURE TO DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT AN ADEQUATE  
DRILL/EXERCISE PROGRAM) 

67. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in Paragraphs 1 

through 66. 

68. In the 2003 FRP, the Defendant states “BP Americas Response team members, 

government agencies, contractors, and other resources must participate in response exercises 

required by Federal, state, or local regulations and as detailed in the ‘National Preparedness for 

Response Exercise Program (PREP) Guidelines.’” 

69. The PREP Guidelines require EPA-regulated facilities to conduct various kinds of 

exercises on a specified basis, including: (1) quarterly Qualified Individual Notification 

Exercises (App. A at p. 4-2); (2) annual Spill Management Team Tabletop Exercises (id. at p. 4-

5); (3) semi-annual Equipment Deployment Exercises for facilities with facility-owned 

equipment id. at (p. 4-7), or annual Equipment Deployment Exercises where the facility cites 

OSRO-owned equipment in its plan (id. at p. 4-9); and (4) Government-Initiated Unannounced 

Exercises not more than triennially, if successfully completed (id. at p. 4-11). 

70. The PREP Guidelines allow a facility to take credit for annual Equipment 

Deployment Exercises conducted by an OSRO as long as all the objectives of the exercise are 

met, the exercise is evaluated, a proper record is generated, and the facility owner or operator has 

received adequate documentation from the OSRO. (Id. at pp. 2-8 and 4-10.) Under the PREP 

Guidelines, it is the responsibility of the owner or operator of a facility to ensure that its OSRO 

completes the required exercises and the necessary documentation. (Id. at p. 2-10.) 

71. Under the PREP Guidelines, documentation of a drill/exercise must include, at a 

minimum, the following information: (1) the type of exercise; (2) the date and time of the 
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exercise; (3) a description of the exercise; (4) the objectives met in the exercise; (5) the 

components of the response plan exercised; and (6) lessons learned along with procedures and 

schedules for implementing lessons learned. (Id. at p. A-1.) 

72. In the 2003 FRP, the Defendant states “The Facility should determine that the 

OSRO(s) has completed the equipment deployment exercise requirements and has maintained 

the necessary documentation.” 

73. Upon information and belief, the Defendant did not receive adequate 

documentation of sufficient equipment deployment drills from its OSRO from at least 2005 to at 

least 2007.  

74. From at least 2005 until at least 2007, the Defendant did not have an adequate 

program of drills/exercises and was in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 112.21. 

75. Pursuant to section 311(b)(7)(C) of the Clean Water Act, the Defendant is liable 

for civil penalties of up to $32,500 per day. 

76. Unless enjoined by the Court, Defendant will continue to violate 40 C.F.R. 

§ 122.21. 

(FAILURE TO SUCCESSFULLY COMPLETE A GOVERNMENT-INITIATED 
UNANNOUNCED EXERCISES) 

COUNT III 

77. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in Paragraphs 1 

through 76. 

78. The PREP Guidelines state, “A government-initiated unannounced exercise must 

be successfully completed as determined by the initiating authority.” (App. A at p. 2-14.) 

79. The Defendant failed to successfully complete a government-initiated 

unannounced oil spill response exercise on August 17, 2005. 
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80. The Defendant failed to successfully complete agovernment-initiated

unannounced oil spill response exercise on October 3, 2005.

81. Pursuant to section 311(b)(7)(C) of the Clean Water Act, the Defendant is liable

for civil penalties of up to $32,500 per occurrence.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, the United States of America, respectfully requests that the

Court enter judgment against the Defendant, BP Products North America, Inc., as follows:

(A) Order the Defendant to comply with all applicable statutory and regulatory

requirements under Section 311 of the Clean Water Act and 40 C.F.R. § 112.20;

(B) Assess civil penalties against the Defendant pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(C) of

the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(C), for each of the Defendant's violations of the

Clean Water Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, in an amount not to exceed

$32,500 per day;

(C) Award the United States its costs of bringing this action; and

(D) Grant such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Respectfully Submitted,

S ~~'~~
IGNACIA S. MORENO
Assistant Attorney General
Environment and Natural Resources Division
U.S. Department of Justice
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September 27, 2012 

  
 
/s/ Daniel S. Smith 

Dated  DANIEL S. SMITH 
Trial Attorney 
Environmental Enforcement Section 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 7611, Ben Franklin Station 
Washington, D.C. 20044 
601 D Street NW 
Washington, D.C. 20004 
(202) 305-0371 (voice) 
(202) 616-6583 (fax) 
dan.smith2@usdoj.gov 

 
 
Of Counsel: 
 
JAMES F. VAN ORDEN 
Office of Regional Counsel 
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Region III 
1650 Arch Street (Mail Code: 3RC42) 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
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